FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/29/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102593-9

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/29/2023 12:41 PM

NO. 84448-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JASON and AMANDA GATES,

Appellants,

v.

HOMESITE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT HOMESITE INSURANCE COMPANY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW TO WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Eliot M. Harris, WSBA # 36590 Miles J. M. Stewart, WSBA # 46067 WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC

601 Union Street, Suite 4100 Seattle, WA 98101-2380

Tel: (206) 628-6600 Fax: (206) 628-6611

<u>eharris@williamskastner.com</u> <u>mstewart@williamskastner.com</u>

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER					
II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION					
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1					
IV. ST	TATEMENT OF THE CASE	2			
A.	Introduction	2			
B.	Statement of Facts and Procedure	5			
1.	Background Facts	5			
2.	Procedural Facts	7			
V. AR	EGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE				
ACCEPTED12					
VI CONCLUSION 1					

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)
STATE CASES
Beasley v. GEICO Gen. Ins. Co., 23 Wash. App. 2d 641, 517 P.3d 500 (2022), review denied, 200 Wash. 2d 1028, 523 P.3d 1188 (2023)
Davis v. King County, 77 Wn.2d 930,934,468
Dike v. Dike, 75 Wash.2d 1, 448 P.2d 490 (1968) 17, 18, 19
In re Marriage of Orate, 11 Wn. App. 2d 807, 813, 455 P.3d 1158 (2020)
Keodalah v. Allstate Ins. Co., 194 Wash.2d 339, 449 P.3d 1040 (2019)
Perez-Crisantos, 187 Wash.2d at 676, 389 P.3d 476 (quoting Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC,
146 Wash.2d 1, 12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)
Rabbage v. Lorella, 5 Wn. App. 2d 289, 297, 426 P.3d 768 (2018)
Short v. Clallam County, 22 Wn. App. 825,832,593
State v. Johnson, 104 Wash.2d 179, 703 P.2d 1052 (1985)

FEDERAL CASES

Freeman v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., No. C11-761-RAJ, 2012 WL 2891167 (W.D. Wash. 2012)
MKB Constructors v. American Zurich Ins. Co., 49 F.Supp.3d 814 (W.D. Wash. 2014)3
Polygon Nw. Co. v. Nat'l Fire & Marine Ins. Co., No. C11-92Z, 2011 WL 2020749 (W.D. Wash. 2011) (discussed in Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. LFH Care LLC, No. C20-1026-JCC-MLP, 2021 WL 2458610, at *2 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 13, 2021))
STATE STATUTES (SEE APPENDIX A, PP. 17-20)
Insurance Fair Conduct Act (see 2007 Wash. Laws. ch. 498 (codified at Wash. Rev. Code § 48.30.010015)) 2, 3
RCW 48.30.015
RULES (SEE APPENDIX A, PP. 21-23)
Civil Rule 60(b)
CR 60(b)
CR 60(b)(5)
RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 13.4(b)(4)
RAP 18.17(b)
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS (SEE APPENDIX A, PP. 24-26)
Const. Article II, § 1(b)

OTHER AUTHORITIES (SEE APPENDIX A, PP. 27-29)

https://www2.sos.wa.gov/elections/initiatives/text/r067.p						
df	3					
60th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2007)	3					

I. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioner is Homesite Insurance Company ("Homesite").

Homesite issued a policy of homeowners insurance to appellants

Jason and Amanda Gates (the "Gates"), which is the subject of
the underlying trial court litigation.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On September 18, 2023, Division 1 of the Washington Court of Appeals issued its Opinion on the Gates' appeal, granting the appeal and reversing the trial court's dismissal of the Gates' default judgments against Homesite under Civil Rule 60(b). It is this Opinion of which Homesite seeks review. A copy of the Opinion is attached hereto in **Appendix A**.

On October 30, 2023, the Washington Court of Appeals issued an Order Granting Motion to Publish its Opinion.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

As a matter of first impression for this Court, whether the Court of Appeals improperly held that an insured's failure to provide its insurer with a 20-day "cure" notice prior to filing suit

under the Washington Insurance Fair Conduct Act (IFCA) merely rendered the trial court's subsequent IFCA judgment "voidable" rather than "void," thus: (1) undermining the legislative intent behind the notice requirement; i.e., to protect insureds by allowing an insurer sufficient time to "cure" an alleged improper denial of coverage or benefits, thereby creating an issue of substantial public interest that merits review by the Supreme Court—especially given that IFCA was enacted via referendum; and (2) diverging from Washington Supreme Court precedent that a trial court's decision based on a mistaken or erroneous interpretation of law is in itself erroneous, despite the trial court having the jurisdiction and power to issue such a decision.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Introduction</u>

In 2007, the Washington State Legislature adopted the Insurance Fair Conduct Act (IFCA) (*see* 2007 Wash. Laws. Ch. 498 (codified at Wash. Rev. Code § 48.30.010-.015)) and the

voters of the state approved it by referendum. See Referendum Measure No. 67, Wash. Leg. Serv. (2007). The Act provides a remedy, including treble damages and attorney fees, against firstparty insurers for unreasonable denial of a claim for coverage or benefits under an insurance policy and for violation of certain regulations adopted by the Washington State Insurance Commissioner. *Id.* Importantly, the bill was amended to add a provision requiring 20-day pre-suit notice before an IFCA lawsuit can be filed. See ENGROSSED SECOND SUBSTITUTE S.B. 5726 H. IFCP Comm. Amd. 545, 60th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2007). Under the statute, the 20-day notice period grants the insurer an opportunity to "resolve the basis for the action" before suit is filed.

Courts have construed the pre-suit written notice as a "mandatory condition precedent" to an IFCA action. *See MKB Constructors v. American Zurich Ins. Co.*, 49 F.Supp.3d 814, 840

¹ https://www2.sos.wa.gov/elections/initiatives/text/r067.pdf

(W.D. Wash. 2014); Freeman v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., No. C11-761-RAJ, 2012 WL 2891167, at *4 (W.D. Wash. 2012); see also Polygon Nw. Co. v. Nat'l Fire & Marine Ins. Co., No. C11-92Z, 2011 WL 2020749, at *2 n.3 (W.D. Wash. 2011) (dismissing IFCA claim, as an alternative holding, where the plaintiff failed to wait twenty days after giving notice before suing) (discussed in Scottsdale Ins. Co. v. LFH Care LLC, No. C20-1026-JCC-MLP, 2021 WL 2458610, at *2 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 13, 2021)).

Here, the trial court set aside two default judgments under Civil Rule 60(b) by weighing the equities—including the Gates' failure to comply with the 20-day pre-suit notice requirement. The trial court vacated the default judgments based on CR 60(b)(5) because it lacked power to award IFCA damages or attorney's fees in the absence of a 20-day notice.

Upon appeal, the Court of Appeals ruled in the Gates' favor, holding that their failure to provide the requisite 20-day notice rendered the trial court's default judgments "voidable, but

not void." In so ruling, the Court of Appeals ruled contrary to established Supreme Court precedent holding that a trial court's judgment arising from its mistaken view of the law or upon the erroneous application of legal principles is in itself inherently erroneous, and thus undermined the legislature's and the public's intent by essentially granting trial courts broad discretion to sidestep the "mandatory" 20-day notice to cure.

B. Statement of Facts and Procedure

1. Background Facts

On April 20, 2018, the Gates submitted a claim to Homesite for loss at the Property, which they purchased on April 4, 2018 – the same day that the Policy period began. CP 1, ¶¶ 2.3, 2.8. The Gates claimed that the Property had tested positive for methamphetamine shortly after they had moved in. CP 91, Ex. B. The Gates claimed that Bio Clean, Inc. ("Bio Clean") inspected the Property, which tested positive for the presence of methamphetamine. *Id.*, Ex. C. On April 20, 2018, Homesite acknowledged the claim and advised the Gates that Homesite

was commencing an investigation. *Id.*, Ex. D. On April 23, 2018, Homesite notified the Gates that the claim did not appear to be covered because: (1) the alleged contamination occurred before the policy period; and (2) the Policy contained an exclusion for contamination by pollutants. *Id.*, Ex. E.

On May 8, 2018, the Gates' counsel at the time, Janna J. Annest at Mills Meyers Swartling, P.S., wrote to Homesite and disputed the lack of coverage for the Gates' personal property, and estimated damage to personal property at "just over \$10,000." CP 91, Ex. F. However, the Gates' counsel acknowledged, and did not dispute, that the Policy did not provide coverage for the Property structure because the contamination occurred before the Policy took effect. *Id*.

On June 6, 2018, Homesite advised the Gates' counsel that it would continue investigating coverage under a reservation of rights and requested that the Gates provide the following information and documents to support the personal property claim: (1) the Bio Clean test results; (2) the sales agreement

indicating that the methamphetamine levels were not disclosed to the Gates by the sellers of the Property; and (3) a list of items that were contaminated. CP 91, Ex. C.

On July 24, 2018, the Gates' counsel advised Homesite that it could communicate directly with the Gates as they "do not want me to be a middleman in what should, hopefully, be routine claims handling from here forward." CP 91, Ex. G. On or around September 17, 2018, Homesite paid the Gates \$11,552.62 for their damaged personal property. *Id.*, Ex. H.

By May 9, 2019, Homesite had heard nothing further from the Gates or their counsel about the claim. Based on the May 8, 2018 letter from the Gates' counsel acknowledging no coverage for structure, and the September 17, 2018 check to the Gates for their damaged personal property, Homesite considered the matter resolved and closed its file. CP 91, ¶ 3.

2. Procedural Facts

Unbeknownst to Homesite, the Gates retained new counsel and filed their lawsuit on January 28, 2019. CP 1; CP

91, ¶ 4. The Gates alleged in the lawsuit that Homesite breached the Policy by improperly denying coverage for damage to the structure. CP 1. The Gates also included a claim against Homesite in the lawsuit for violation of IFCA. *Id*.

The Gates never sent a copy of the Complaint directly to Homesite, or even a courtesy copy to the Homesite adjusters with whom the Gates had been communicating. CP 91, ¶¶ 4-6. Moreover, prior to filing the lawsuit, the Gates did not send a 20-day IFCA notice to Homesite (Id., ¶ 6) as mandated under RCW 48.30.015, and as required by the Policy as a condition precedent to coverage.

The Gates served the lawsuit on the Washington State Office of the Insurance Commissioner (OIC), which accepted service on January 29, 2019. CP 512-514. The Gates did not serve Homesite or the OIC with a copy of the motion for default or the motion for entry of default judgment; neither did they provide Homesite with any notice or warning that they intended to file for default or default judgment. CP 91, ¶¶ 4-6. The Gates

moved for default judgment on March 18, 2019. CP 186-187. On August 5, 2019, the Gates obtained a supplemental judgment for attorney's fees and costs. CP 188-190. The Gates and their counsel sent no documents or notices to Homesite about the lawsuit until they sent the default judgments and demanded payment for the same *exactly one year later* – on August 5, 2020. CP 185.

Upon receipt of the Gates' demand, Homesite contacted the OIC, which responded on August 14, 2020. CP 91, Ex. J. On August 17, 2020, Homesite's counsel wrote to the Gates' counsel advising that Homesite was unaware of the default judgments prior to receiving the August 5, 2020 letter. CP 86, Ex. A. Homesite advised that it would be bringing its motion to vacate the default judgments at the earliest possible opportunity after it had time to determine when, if ever, it had been served with the lawsuit or any of the other pleadings filed subsequently in this lawsuit. *Id*.

On December 28, 2020, Homesite filed its Motion to Set Aside Order of Default Judgment and Supplemental Judgment. CP 69-85. The trial court granted Homesite's Motion on February 11, 2021. CP 213-215.

On February 17, 2021, the Gates filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's February 11, 2021 Order. CP 216-226. On March 12, 2021, the trial court denied the Gates' Motion for Reconsideration on the grounds that: (1) the court properly imposed "such terms as are just" under CR 60(b) by weighing the equities in this matter, including the Gates' failure to comply with the procedural requirements for serving an IFCA notice; (2) the Gates' pre-filing concession that their claim was invalid, and the fact that Homesite failed to timely defend was due to inadvertent error in processing its mail; and (3) the court properly vacated the default judgment and findings based on CR 60(b)(5), because the court lacked the power to award IFCA damages (or attorney's fees based in part on those damages) in the absence of the mandatory 20-day notice to Homesite. CP 248-250.

On April 22, 2022, Homesite filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the Gates' IFCA cause of action. CP 277-292. Homesite argued that there was no question of fact that: (1) the Gates failed to provide the mandatory 20-day IFCA notice; (2) the Gates' subsequent purported IFCA notice (provided almost three years after suit was filed) could not "cure" their original defect, as it undermined the ultimate reason behind the notice requirement – which is to allow the insurer an opportunity to "cure" any potential claims handling error; and (3) the Gates' purported IFCA cause of action – which began to run when Homesite indicated a lack of coverage for certain portions of the Gates' claim – is time-barred under the three-year statute of limitations. *Id.* The trial court agreed, and on June 6, 2022, granted Homesite's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the Gates' IFCA claim, dismissing the Gates' IFCA cause of action. CP 410-414.

Also on April 22, 2022, the Gates filed a Cross Motion for Summary Judgment as to Liability, in which they argued that their "loss," defined by the Gates as their financial detriment arising from the contamination, occurred during the policy period. CP 309-316. Homesite responded on May 9, 2022, and argued that: (1) the Policy provides coverage for loss defined as "direct physical loss to property; (2) the Gates provided no evidence of financial detriment; and (3) any loss in value would be purely economic in nature – not a potentially-covered physical loss. CP 353-368. On June 6, 2022, the trial court denied the Gates' Cross Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. CP 415-418.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The court is the "final arbiter" of legislative intent and statutory construction. *Davis v. King County*, 77 Wn.2d 930,934,468 P.2d 679 (1970); *Short v. Clallam County*, 22 Wn. App. 825,832,593 P.2d 821 (1979). As discussed at length by Division 2 of the Washington Court of Appeals in *Beasley v.*

GEICO Gen. Ins. Co., 23 Wash. App. 2d 641, 517 P.3d 500 (2022), review denied, 200 Wash. 2d 1028, 523 P.3d 1188 (2023), "[t]he court's goal when interpreting a statute "is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent." Keodalah v. Allstate Ins. Co., 194 Wash.2d 339, 344, 449 P.3d 1040 (2019). Crucially, the primary indicator of legislative intent is the plain and unambiguous meaning of the words in a statute. State v. Johnson, 104 Wash.2d 179, 181, 703 P.2d 1052 (1985). When considering the plain meaning of the words in a statute, this court must examine the meaning of the words in the context of the statute as a whole and related provisions, related amendments, and "the statutory scheme as a whole." "Keodalah, 194 Wash.2d at 344, 449 P.3d 1040 (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v. Evergreen Freedom Found., 192 Wash.2d 782, 789, 432 P.3d 805 (2019)). Division 2 held in *Beasley* as follows:

If after reading the statute in context, it 'remains susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning, the statute is ambiguous and it is appropriate to

resort to aids to construction, including legislative history." *Perez-Crisantos*, 187 Wash.2d at 676, 389 P.3d 476 (quoting *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, LLC*, 146 Wash.2d 1, 12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002)). Because IFCA was ratified by referendum measure, this court must also consider "the intent of the voters who ultimately ratified IFCA" when examining legislative intent.

23 Wash. App. 2d 641, 656 [emphasis added].

Significantly, the *Beasley* court held that: "[T]he inclusion of a notice and cure period that offered the insurer an opportunity to correct any unreasonable behavior before being hauled into court also suggests that the intent of the legislation was to protect the insured rather than punish the insurer." 23 Wash. App. 2d 641, 665 [emphasis added]. Referendums, such as that which enabled the enactment of IFCA, give the people the power to review laws enacted by the legislature. Wash. Const. art. II, § 1(b). As such, there can be no dispute that the intent of the legislature—and consequently the people—behind the 20-day cure period was to protect insured members of the public by allowing the insurer the opportunity to correct its perceived

wrongful denial of coverage or benefits before the parties and the court invest significant time and resources into litigation.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case grants the judiciary broad discretion to ignore the 20-day pre-suit written notice required under IFCA—effectively undermining the legislature's (and the public's) intent behind establishing this "cure" period. It effectively permits an insured to file an IFCA lawsuit without any notice to the insurer, and if the trial court grants IFCA damages despite the lack of notice, the trial court can simply ignore this significant procedural omission. This approach discourages pre-suit resolution and encourages unnecessary litigation, and creates confusion for insurers and insureds alike as to how properly to apply IFCA. It is of critical importance that this 20-day "cure" period was enacted by the people to protect the public—not insurance companies. Review is therefore necessitated given this substantial question of public interest.

Whether the lack of a 20-day IFCA notice renders a judgment awarding punitive IFCA damages void or voidable is a matter of first impression for the Washington Supreme Court. In its September 18, 2023 Opinion, the Court of Appeals did not address case law cited by Homesite in support its argument that an IFCA pre-suit notice is a condition precedent to a court issuing a punitive IFCA award. The Court of Appeals relied on Rabbage v. Lorella, 5 Wn. App. 2d 289, 297, 426 P.3d 768 (2018), which held that a judgment is void if the issuing court lacks personal jurisdiction over the claim. 5 Wn. App. 2d 289, 297. The Court also cited In re Marriage of Orate, 11 Wn. App. 2d 807, 813, 455 P.3d 1158 (2020), in which Division Three agreed that "a judgment rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction is not void merely because there are irregularities or errors of law in connection therewith." *Id.* at 812-813. However, neither Rabbage nor Orate involved lack of a 20-day IFCA "cure" notice. The former addressed a failure to provide notice of a motion for default judgment, 5 Wash. App. 2d 289, 297; the latter, a lack of a parent's notice of intent to relocate with their child. 11 Wash. App. 2d 807, 809.

Further, the Court of Appeals did not fully address Homesite's argument that the trial court's IFCA rulings, by ignoring the lack of IFCA notice, were based on an erroneous application of legal principles. Specifically, Homesite cited the Washington Supreme Court case of *Dike v. Dike*, 75 Wash.2d 1, 7, 448 P.2d 490 (1968), in the Court held that: "A judgment, decree or order entered by a court which lacks jurisdiction of the parties or of the subject matter, or which lacks the inherent power to make or enter the particular order involved, is void." 75 Wash.

2d 1, 7. The Court in *Dike* stated:

Where a court has jurisdiction of the parties and of the subject matter, and has the power to make the order or rulings complained of, but the latter is based upon a mistaken view of the law or upon the erroneous application of legal principles, it is erroneous.

Id.

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