FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/28/2023 11:42 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1025939

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JASON and AMANDA GATES,

Appellants,

v.

# HOMESITE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Law Offices of Dan R. Young Attorney for Appellants Gates P. O. Box 15113 Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 962-0676 dan@truthandjustice.legal

# **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

Homesite sets forth no compelling grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4). Furthermore, the Court of Appeals' decision is correct that the default judgments entered in this case are neither void nor is there a basis to invalidate them.

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of the Supreme Court; Rather It Is Supported by Supreme Court Authority.

Homesite contends that the Court of Appeals' decision upon which it seeks review is inconsistent with Supreme Court precedent in *Dike v. Dike*, 75 Wn.2d 1, 7, 448 P.2d 490 (1968). Homesite Pet. at 17-18. Homesite's contention is misplaced.

Dike involved the question of whether an attorney could be held in contempt for failing to reveal his client's address where the client had taken her child to an unknown place during a dissolution action and where the court had ordered the attorney to disclose the client's address. The attorney honestly believed that his client's address was protected by the attorney-client privilege, while the Supreme Court held that the client's address was not covered by the attorney-client privilege and the attorney's disobedience was not justified. Dike, 75 Wn.2d at 13.

Nevertheless, the Supreme Court set aside the adjudication of contempt because the application of the privilege was rather obscure, the attorney was faced with the dilemma of apparently conflicting obligations to his client and to the court, the attorney acted in good faith, and the attorney should have been given the opportunity for review by an appellate court before being sent to jail. *Dike*, 75 Wn.2d at 16.

While the issues in *Dike* have nothing to do with the issues in the instant case, Homesite focuses upon the following statement in *Dike*:

Where a court has jurisdiction of the parties and of the subject matter, and has the power to make the order or rulings complained of, but the latter is based upon a mistaken view of the law or upon the erroneous application of legal principles, it is erroneous.

Dike v. Dike, 75 Wn. 2d 1, 7 (quoting Robertson v. Commonwealth, 181 Va. 520, 536, 25 S.E.2d 352, 146 A.L.R. 966 (1943). Homesite Pet. at 17.

This statement announces no new legal principle. It has been taken by the Supreme Court in discussing *Dike* to mean, "[W]here the court 'has jurisdiction of the parties and of the subject matter, and has the power to make the order or rulings complained of, "but its order "is based upon a mistaken view of the law or upon the erroneous application of legal principles, it is erroneous,' as opposed to void for lack of jurisdiction." *Ronald Wastewater Dist. v. Olympic View Water & Sewer Dist.*, 196

Wn.2d 353, 372-73, 474 P.3d 547 (2020) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *Dike v. Dike*,75 Wn.2d 1, 7, 448 P.2d 490 (1968)).

The principle is merely that where a court has jurisdiction and the power to make a ruling, but the ruling is based upon a mistaken view of the law or upon the erroneous application of legal principles, the ruling "is erroneous." Where such a ruling is erroneous, the remedy is through a timely appeal. *In re Marriage of Kaufman*, 17 Wn. App.2d 497, 517, 485 P.3d 991, 999-1000 (2021) (citing *Ronald Wastewater Dist. v. Olympic View Water & Sewer Dist.*, 196 Wn.2d 353, 371-72, 474 P.3d 547 (2020)).

The problem for Homesite in this case is that if the trial court erred in entering a judgment against Homesite despite the Gates' failure to send Homesite the 20-day IFCA pre-filing notice, Homesite's remedy was to file a motion under CR 60(b)(1) to vacate the default judgment for "mistakes, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or irregularity in

obtaining a judgment or order." CR 60(b)(1). But such a motion must be filed within one year, and a year had already passed before Homesite made the motion. CR 60(b). "CR 60 defines the limited circumstances under which a party may obtain relief from a final unappealed judgment." *In re Marriage of Kaufman*, 17 Wn. App.2d 497, 485 P.3d 991, 997. Homesite was unable to meet the requirements of CR 60, so was unable to avoid the two default judgments.

Accordingly, the opinion of the Court of Appeals is not inconsistent with *Dike* or any other recent opinion of the Supreme Court. In fact, recent decisions of the Supreme Court support the reasoning of the Court of Appeals in this case. *Ronald*, 196 Wn.2d 353, 372 (jurisdictional deficiencies occur when a court acts outside of its adjudicative authority); and *Freedom Found. v. Teamsters Local 117 Segregated Fund*, 197 Wn.2d 116, 141, 480 P.3d 1119 (2021) (failure to comply with statutory prerequisites does not strip the superior court of its subject matter jurisdiction).

Homesite thus fails to satisfy the requirement for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), which requires an inconsistency between the opinion of the Court of Appeals and a decision of the Supreme Court.

# B. Homesite's Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should be Determined by the Supreme Court.

Homesite's claimed issue of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is that the 20-day IFCA pre-filing notice is designed to protect insureds, and that if a court may disregard the failure to give the 20-day pre-filing notice, insureds lose protection which the referendum process was designed to establish. Homesite Pet. at 14-15.

This argument is a red herring, as it is surely a relatively rare instance where an insurance company will fail to respond to – or lose – a properly served summons and complaint. After all, insurance companies are in the business of settling claims and have processes and procedures in place for doing so.

While the IFCA may have been designed to benefit insureds, the 20-day pre-filing notice provision actually gives little protection to insureds. One can even make a good argument that the pre-filing notice requirement <a href="https://harms.new.org/harms">harms</a> insureds, as the 20-day pre-filing notice allows a recalcitrant insurance company to deny legitimate claims on a widespread basis, unless and until its insured files the 20-day notice. Then the insurance company can take the claim seriously and act reasonably. Many insureds won't bother to retain an attorney to file the 20-day notice, so in those cases the insurance company will get away with the wrongful denial of the claim.

Rather than protect the insured, the 20-day pre-filing notice does little more than tip the insurer off that a claim it has denied may be litigated. The 20-day pre-filing IFCA notice is triggered by an insurer's "unreasonable" denial of a claim for coverage or payment of a benefit. RCW 48.30.015(1); RCW 48.30.015(8). If the insurer has unreasonably denied a claim for coverage or payment of benefits, the court may increase the total

amount of damages to an amount not to exceed three times the actual damages. RCW 48.30.015(3).

Furthermore, the 20-day pre-filing notice may be regarded as a mere trap for the unwary which does little to promote honest insurance company conduct. If the insured inadvertently does not file the 20-day pre-filing notice, then the insurance company can argue that any IFCA claim should be dismissed on summary judgment. The 20-day pre-filing notice then can be viewed as a technical hurdle which will eliminate some otherwise legitimate IFCA claims, but which will have limited beneficial effect on the insurance company's practices and conduct, which clearly does not benefit the insured.

Homesite attempts to hang its hat on such argument, citing certain federal cases for the proposition that the 20-day pre-filing notice is a "condition precedent" for filing an IFCA lawsuit against an insurance company. Homesite Pet., 3-4. Homesite fails to mention, though, that those cases involved the 20-day IFCA notice requirement as an affirmative defense in the

summary judgment context. Homesite provided no authority for the proposition that this affirmative defense can be used as a ground to vacate a default judgment after more than a year has passed. The Court of Appeals rejected such argument here.

Clearly, the 20-day IFCA pre-filing notice in this case provided no protection to the insured. Accordingly, Homesite has failed to show an issue of substantial public interest for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# C. The Default Judgment as to the IFCA Claim Was Not Void.

Homesite argued essentially – and the Court of Appeals rejected – that not giving the procedural 20-day pre-filing notice deprives the superior court of the authority to enter the default judgment, and therefore it is void. RB 25. See AB 17-22. Homesite argued that a court's jurisdiction is "irrelevant" to whether the court has "actual authority or power to enter a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "RB" refers to respondents' brief in the Court of Appeals.

<sup>&</sup>quot;AB" refers to appellants' brief in the Court of Appeals.

judgment." RB 25. But Homesite's failure to consider subject matter jurisdiction is fatal to its analysis.

The proper inquiry is to first determine whether the trial court has subject matter jurisdiction and then, as a second step, determine whether there is a limitation on relief. This inquiry leads to a result opposite from Homesite's, namely, that the default judgment is <u>not</u> void. The entry of the default judgment as to the IFCA claim was at most legal error, for which Homesite's remedy was time barred.

# 1. The Trial Court has Subject Matter Jurisdiction with respect to the IFCA Claim.

There has been longstanding confusion in Washington regarding subject matter jurisdiction, which has been clarified by recent cases. *Buecking v. Buecking*, 179 Wn.2d 438, ¶ 21, 316 P.3d 999 (2013) ("Washington courts have been inconsistent in their understanding and application of jurisdiction"), *cert denied*, 574 U.S. 869, 135 S.Ct. 181, 190 L.Ed.2d 129 (2014). These conflicts and inconsistencies have been seen in all three divisions

of the court of appeals, viz., Rabbage v. Lorella, 5 Wn. App.2d 289, 299, 426 P.3d 768 (2018) [Div. I]; Boudreaux v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 10 Wn. App.2d 289, 294, 448 P.3d 121 (2019) [Div. I]; In re Marriage of Tupper, 15 Wn. App.2d 796, 806, 478 P.3d 1132 (2020) [Div. II) (holding that although trial court had subject matter jurisdiction, the court lacked the inherent authority to enter an order where the trial court made a legal error and entered an order preempted by federal law, thus making the order void ab initio]; In re Marriage of Weiser, 14 Wn. App.2d 884, 888, 475 P.3d 237 (2020) [Div. II] (holding to the contrary that legal error alone did not defeat the trial court's inherent authority to enter the dissolution decree at issue); *In re* Marriage of Kaufman, 17 Wn. App.2d 497, 514, 517, 485 P.3d 991, 999-1000 (2021) [Div. II] (rejecting reasoning of *Tupper* and adopting reasoning of Weiser); In re Marriage of Orate, 11 Wn. App.2d 807, 813, 455 P.3d 1158 (2020) [Div. III].

The *Buecking* court noted that recent cases "have narrowed the types of errors that implicate a court's subject

matter jurisdiction. Under these cases, if a court can hear a particular class of case, then it has subject matter jurisdiction." Buecking, 179 Wn.2d 43, ¶ 24.

In Ronald Wastewater Dist. v. Olympic View Water & Sewer Dist., 196 Wn.2d 353, 372, the Supreme Court clarified that "subject matter jurisdiction has two necessary components: (1) the authority to adjudicate the particular claim and (2) the authority to issue a particular form of relief. These two components are intertwined." Ronald, 196 Wn.2d 353, 372; Glenrose Ass'n v. Spokane County, 22 Wn. App.2d 293, 296-97, ¶ 9, 511 P.3d 110, 112 (2022).

"When determining subject matter jurisdiction, the controlling question is whether the court possessed the authority to adjudicate the *type of controversy* involved in the action." *Ronald*, 196 Wn.2d 353, 372, ¶ 39. The "type of controversy" is the "nature of a case and the kind of relief sought." *Id.* (quoting *Dougherty*, 150 Wn.2d 310, 317 (2003)).

The dispositive inquiry to determine subject matter jurisdiction is whether the court had overall authority to adjudicate the particular claim, and the authority to issue a particular form of relief follows. *Ronald*, 196 Wn.2d 353, 372, ¶ 39; *In re Marriage of Kaufman*, 17 Wn. App.2d 497, 514, 517, 485 P.3d 991, 999-1000 (2021).

In the instant case, the trial court's subject matter jurisdiction to deal with an IFCA claim was based on constitutional and statutory authority. CONST. art. IV, § 6 (superior courts "have original jurisdiction in all cases and of all proceedings in which jurisdiction shall not have been by law vested exclusively in some other court."); RCW 48.30.015(1); Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kan. v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co.,176 Wn. App. 185, 199, ¶ 33, 312 P.3d 976 (2013) (The "IFCA... allow[s] claimants to bring suit in superior court"), review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1010 (2014).

Statutory procedural requirements that "limit the exercise of the court's jurisdiction . . . do not eliminate that jurisdiction."

Freedom Found. v. Teamsters Local 117 Segregated Fund, 197 Wn.2d 116, 141, 480 P.3d 1119 (2021). Furthermore, "a person's failure to comply with [statutory] prerequisites does not strip the superior court of its subject matter jurisdiction." *Id.* It follows that a defense based on the plaintiff's failure to comply with statutory prerequisites does not establish a lack of subject matter jurisdiction; instead, such a defense "speaks to statutory prerequisites and should be raised in the answer, just like any other affirmative defense. CR 8(c)." *Freedom Foundation*, 197 Wn.2d at 142.<sup>2</sup>

Accordingly, the 20-day pre-filing notice for an IFCA claim is an *element* of an IFCA claim and not a jurisdictional requirement. See *Cole v. Harveyland, LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 199, 208, 258 P.3d 70 (2011) (citing *Arbaugh v. Y & H Corp.*, 546 U.S. 500, 504, 126 S.Ct. 1235, 163 L.Ed.2d 1097 (2006))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See also, *Boyle v. Clark*, 47 Wn.2d 418, 424, 287 P.2d 1006 (1955) (statute of limitations is affirmative defense which is waived when defendant defaults); *Davis v. Nielson*, 9 Wn. App. 864, 876-77, 515 P.2d 995 (1973) (same).

(holding that numerosity is an *element* of a Title VII claim, not a *jurisdictional* requirement).

# 2. Homesite's Cited Cases Do Not Support the Conclusion that the Default Judgments on the IFCA Claim Were Void.

Both the trial court and Homesite relied upon *Lindgren v*. *Lindgren*, 58 Wn. App. 588, 794 P.2d 526 (1990) to support the propriety of the trial court's vacation of the default judgments. CP 213; RB 21-22. The trial court's and Homesite's reliance on *Lindgren* is misplaced because in *Lindgren* the summons was defective, which deprived the court of personal jurisdiction. Here there was no such defect, as the summons was proper and properly served. CP 514; AB 21-22.

As noted earlier, "a judgment rendered by a court of competent jurisdiction is not void merely because there are irregularities or errors of law in connection therewith. . . .. Such a judgment is, under proper circumstances, voidable, but until avoided is regarded as valid." *In re Marriage of Ortiz*, 108 Wn.2d 643, 649-50, 740 P.2d 843 (1987) (internal quotation

marks omitted) (quoting *Dike v. Dike*, 75 Wn.2d 1, 8, 448 P.2d 490 (1968); *In re Marriage of Orate*, 11 Wn. App.2d 807, 812-13, 455 P.3d 1158 (2020)); *Cole v. Harveyland, LLC, supra*, 163 Wn. App. 199, 205.

Appellate courts review de novo whether a trial court erred in granting or denying a motion to vacate a judgment as void. *Dobbins v. Mendoza*, 88 Wn. App. 862, 871, 947 P.2d 1229 (1997). If a court enters an order with both jurisdiction and the inherent power to enter the order, a procedural irregularity makes the judgment only voidable. *Rabbage v. Lorella*, 5 Wn. App.2d 289, 297, 298-99. Stated another way, "[s]o long as a superior court had the authority to adjudicate the type of controversy involved in its order, an incorrect decision regarding pre-emption is a legal error that does not implicate the court's subject matter jurisdiction." *Marriage of Kaufman*, 17 Wn. App.2d 497, 371-72.

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